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INTRODUCTION to the Skyhorse Edition


Why republish a 1983 book that has been made into a theatrical motion picture? That is precisely what I asked Tony Lyons, Skyhorse’s publisher, and Mark Gompertz, group editorial director.

Their answer: the reader of Judgment in Berlin today is almost certainly unaware of the 1979 airplane hijacking proceedings that I presided over in a courtroom in the occupied walled city of Berlin; and the efforts of the United States government to dictate to my court. And Americans should be aware of what was done in their name then, as they observe the efforts of ideologues both on the left and the right to dictate to or gerrymander our courts right here at home, today.

Quite right, I thought.

When Detlef Tiede and Ingrid Ruske, two East Berlin restaurant workers, diverted a Polish plane from Schoenefeld Airport in East Berlin to Tempelhof Airport in the American sector of West Berlin, they started an unimaginable chain of events.

The West German government in Bonn, although obligated to prosecute because of international treaties banning air piracy, found it politically impossible to do so. Its Constitution regarded all Germans—east or west—as its citizens and all laws preventing their leaving East Germany as illegal. No East German had ever been prosecuted for escaping over the wall—no matter how illegal the means. Steal a car, bribe a guard, or even use violence—a criminal prosecution was politically impossible for the West German government.

And so, the Bonn government persuaded the American State Department to convene an occupation court in West Berlin, and I was selected to preside. The big trouble came when the defendants demanded their right to trial by jury under the Sixth Amendment to the Constitution. Their demand created international consternation.

The Russians, the Poles, and the East Germans viewed the empanelment of a jury tantamount to an acquittal. They were certain no West Berlin jury would convict the escapees. They reminded their opposite numbers in the west that enforcement of the bans of air piracy must be reciprocal.

For their part, the West German authorities were furious at the demand for a jury. They had persuaded reluctant Americans to convene an Occupation Court; built a courtroom; paid for German and American prosecutors, defense attorneys, and even a United States judge for Berlin—all to get the proceedings out of West German hands. A jury of West Berliners would undo it all. Even worse, from their point of view, the entire legal basis of the court was the occupation status of Berlin. Indeed, the American, British, and French refusal to leave West Berlin was based on their continued status as victorious occupiers. It was that refusal to leave that brought on the Berlin blockade by the Russians in 1948, and the allied airlift which saved the residents of the American, British, and French sectors of Berlin—known as West Berlin. The safety of the 3.2 million residents of West Berlin turned on the continued status of Berlin as occupied territory—even forty-five years after the end of World War II. Consequently, any cloud on that status—and conferring rights on citizens of Berlin against the occupation authorities was seen as such a cloud—would undermine the legality of the occupation of Berlin itself and consequently the freedom of its millions of residents in West Berlin.

Unfortunately, at least for me, the State Department shared the view of the West German government. And so, in order to protect values and interests which were deemed paramount—at the momen—and in order to defeat the defendants’ demand for a jury trial under the Sixth Amendment, the State Department ordered me to rule that the defendants had no right to trial by jury because . . . they had no constitutional rights at all. Not even the right to due process, although the State Department said it intended to be generous in the rights it permitted; and that I, as an employee of the State Department, was bound to follow its directions.

And so, even while professing to uphold the principles of judicial independence, the State Department undermined them to protect interests which it deemed more important, at the moment.

Now, I want to be clear. The people who made those choices were decent, good people. They unquestionably believed that they were acting in the public interest, and yet the question then, in Berlin, and now in the United States remains: is prevailing in court on any particular issue more important than maintaining the legitimacy of the court as the neutral arbiter of the issue we have brought to it?

Today—actually for a very long time now—our people are deeply divided. There are strong views on right to life, and equally strong views on right to choose; on the right to bear arms, and the need to control weapons capable of deadly force. Each have passionate advocates. There are strong differences of opinion on whether the courts are too tough or too lenient in criminal cases. Equality in educational opportunities for all versus affirmative action to correct the consequences of long-standing discrimination is another flash point. Even the method to be used deciding cases is hotly debated. Is the Constitution to be construed as a living document, subject to differing interpretation as the world changes around it; or is its plain language to be strictly adhered to, with any change limited to the process of amendment?

As important as these and other issues undoubtedly are, not one of them or all of them collectively are worth destroying the independence and hence the legitimacy of our courts. We have survived—more, we have maintained ourselves as the greatest nation in the world—although we have answered many of these questions differently, at different times in our long history. But survival can become an open question if we completely destroy the confidence our people have in our courts by selecting, or promoting judicial officers on the basis of their strong fidelity to particular issues which divide our people and upon which reasonable people can disagree. If we endorse the notion of “stacking” a court in any way, whether by expanding its numbers or limiting its candidates to those whom we are confident will vote with us—we will, in the end, have lost whatever we sought to gain.

I think I understood that clearly enough, even as a young judge over forty years ago when I served as United States Judge for Berlin, and had the following colloquy with the then United States Attorney for Berlin:

What is a judge if he is something you can tell what to do? Is this a charade, all of it, for your convenience, to have a forum so you can satisfy your international treaties on the one hand, but not your Constitution on the other. Here, in this city, do we need more judges who follow orders?

Of course, I had in mind the People’s Court. The Volksgerichtshof was established by Hitler in 1933 in reaction to the Nazi failure to convict the communists who they charged with burning down the Reichstag. Hitler had used that case to persuade President Hindenburg to suspend all civil rights on the eve of the election which ultimately brought the Nazis dictatorial power. This, of course, is well known.

What is not so well known is that even with the establishment of his “Special Courts,” Hitler was often frustrated by the decisions of his judges in what we would regard today as routine criminal cases.

Not surprisingly, Hitler belonged to that school which believes that increasing sentences is an effective method of decreasing crime. The greater the punishment, the greater the deterrent; the more who are deterred, the less crime. Every time the penalty is raised another notch, say those thinkers, you deter more criminals.

The point is not whether this philosophy of sentencing is correct or not. Nor is it the irony that one of the greatest criminals of all time held those views. Rather, the point is that Hitler had the ability to dictate his sentencing philosophy to the judiciary. Or did he?

The Führer would read the party newspaper, the Völkischer Beobachter, and run into cases like that of the nineteen-year-old Anton Scharf, who received a sentence of only ten years hard labor for snatching a woman’s purse during a blackout. Martin Borman, Hitler’s aide, wrote the minister of Justice, “In the Führer’s opinion this sentence is incomprehensible.” (emphasis in original). Borman made it clear that Hitler wanted the death sentence. And this was far from an isolated instance. The notes and calls were commonplace. Hitler would sometimes make the call himself.

But, unfortunately for him, the German judiciary, although too often supine, was apparently not malleable enough for the Führer. So, on April 26, 1942, Hitler appeared before the Reichstag and screamed:

I expect the German legal profession to understand that the nation is not here for them, but they are here for the nation . . . for example, I fail to understand why a criminal who ill-treated his wife until she finally became insane and died as a result of ill treatment, should be sentenced to 5 years in a penitentiary . . . from now on I will remove from office those judges who do not understand the demand of the hour.

On that day, the Reichstag, to fanatical applause, unanimously passed a law recognizing Hitler as the “Supreme Judicial Power,” and, in effect, chief of Justice of Germany, with the power to intervene in any case and to remove any judge.

This is grotesque and unreal to the reader of today. Yet it did happen. And less than forty years later, in that same city, it almost happened again. And what of today? We daily read of frustration with our courts by one side of an issue, or another. This, of course, is healthy in a free society. But what is not healthy—indeed, what is lethal to a free society—is the legitimizing of using the judicial selection process to determine particular outcomes of matters before a court.

As we discuss and debate the issues that divide us at home, and how they should be resolved in court, perhaps it is timely to remember that there may be a worse result than losing a position in court: winning, by destroying the integrity of the court itself.
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August 30, 1978


Tempelhof Airport is in the United States Sector of West Berlin. Seen from the air, the building takes the shape of an eagle in flight. It was dedicated to Hitler’s grand schemes for German aviation—the airport he designed for the 1936 Olympic Games in the capital of the Third Reich, his future capital of all of Europe’s “New Order.” Because no bomb ever fell on Tempelhof, it looks now just as it did in 1936. It remains today one of the largest buildings in the world.

But now it is only another U.S. Air Force base, and more than half-empty. Civilian air traffic into West Berlin goes to Tegel Airport in the French Sector. Even military traffic into Tempelhof has slowed to a trickle. The once mighty airport dozes in the fitful rest of advancing years.

But its radio tower remains alert. Air traffic over Berlin is heavy, and radio transmissions from aircraft overhead are interesting, particularly messages from across The Wall.

On the morning of August 30, 1978, the tower was staffed by three master sergeants of the U.S. Air Force. As Berlin prepared for a hot summer day, the sergeants monitored the radio bands, including the East German frequencies. They could hear the radio chatter of the East Bloc planes flying in and out of Schoenefeld Airport in East Berlin. There was Polish LOT Flight No. 165, scheduled to land at Schoenefeld Airport. Then came an emergency call. The captain was reporting a hijacking in progress. The U.S. Air Force men leaned closer to the set. The plane was being diverted from East Berlin. The Polish captain asked permission from Schoenefeld tower to make contact with Tempelhof tower. Then they heard Schoenefeld answer yes. Suddenly the desultory monitoring became emergency business as Polish LOT Flight No. 165 veered over and headed for Tempelhof. The sergeant in charge pushed the alarm. The others grabbed for the telephones.

Within minutes the small Polish airliner appeared through the windows of the tower. Its captain, Lukomski, was now in direct contact with the Americans, seeking landing instructions. With one hand grasping the microphone, the sergeant “talked” Captain Lukomski down. The other sergeant held a priority telephone, connecting him with Colonel Oberst, the base commander.

As the plane descended into Tempelhof, American airmen scrambled for emergency vehicles. A stream of officers and men poured out of the mammoth airport complex, racing toward the apron of the runway upon which the Polish plane was now taxiing.

Even before the plane came to a halt, Air Force vehicles of every kind ringed the Polish jet. Orders were shouted to the captain to turn off his engines and for the hijacker to come to the hatch, throw out his weapon, and surrender. After a brief exchange between the Polish captain and two U.S. Air Force colonels, the engines died and the door of the plane began to open. In a few moments the airmen on the ground saw a man silhouetted in the door.

Hans Detlef Alexander Tiede, a resident of East Berlin, holding his arms raised with his fingers showing “V” for victory, came through the hatch. He grinned at the American armada and threw his pistol to one of the colonels. “Welcome to free Berlin,” said a colonel, with a smile.

A beautiful blonde woman, holding the hand of a twelve-year-old girl, stepped into the doorway. The other colonel roundly kissed her, as she and her daughter alighted from the plane. Eight of the other passengers immediately defected to the West.

It was, obviously, another daring act of piracy by desperate East Berliners to win their freedom. But this one would be treated very differently from any other—before or since.
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THE ROUND-TRIP TICKET TO FREEDOM

Freedom has many difficulties and democracy is not perfect. But we have never had to put up a wall to keep our people in, to prevent them from leaving us. I want to say, on behalf of my countrymen, who live many miles away on the other side of the Atlantic, who are far distant from you, that they take the greatest pride that they have been able to share with you, even from a distance, the story of the last eighteen years. I know of no town, no city, that has been besieged for eighteen years that lives with the vitality and the force, and the hope and the determination of the City of West Berlin. While the wall is the most obvious and vivid demonstration of the failure of the Communist system, for all the world to see, we take no satisfaction in it for it is, as your Mayor has said, an offense not only against history, but an offense against humanity, separating families, dividing husbands and wives and brothers and sisters, and dividing a people who wish to be joined together…. In eighteen years of peace and good faith, this generation of Germans has earned the right to be free, including the right to unite their families and their nation in lasting peace, with good will to all people.

John F. Kennedy, to the people of Berlin, June 26, 1963, at Rudolf-Wilde Platz, later renamed John F. Kennedy Square

Hans Detlef Alexander Tiede was born after the war in that portion of the world that became the Eastern Zone of Germany. He thus became an East German, rather than a West German, which he would have been if born a few miles away. For him, Adolf Hitler would never be more than a historical figure who lived and died before there was a Detlef Tiede. As for expansion to the East, Aryan versus Slav, the vanished dreams at Stalingrad, the terrible consequences for Germany, all these had nothing to do with him, although he was their heir.

In many ways he was not a complicated man. Of average height and ordinary appearance, he had only one distinguishing feature—a mustache that he kept neatly trimmed. He worked as a waiter, serving food and drink to patrons. He was good at his work, and over the years he moved to the better and then to the best restaurants. He was an average man, living an ordinary life.

But in one respect Detlef Tiede was special. As he was later to write, “Man or animal, everyone loves its freedom.” But he loved it more than most. At least he was willing to risk more than most to win it. And he had always known that he was on the wrong side of The Wall. He had always known, too, that it was unjust to force him to remain there—although he could not have cited the Helsinki Accord or the Charter of the United Nations or the doctrine of Fundamental Human Rights. He did not know these legalities, but even as a child he understood the difference between the way Germans lived in the West and the way they lived in the East, where, of course, he found himself by the accident of birth. While yet a boy he hungered to leave.

But by the time Tiede reached an age when he could do something about it—simply take a city train from East Berlin to West Berlin—it was too late. The Wall was there. When the Berlin Wall went up on August 13, 1961, Tiede was only a teenager—and, from that moment on, he could never lawfully leave the Communist East. He was to remain a prisoner, regulated in his work, in what he could read and speak, and, if the state could achieve it, forced to raise his children in the same mold that had been decreed for him.

When Tiede was not yet twenty-four, he met a young waitress. Her name was Ingrid—Ingrid Ruske. Young as she was, she was already married, divorced, and had a small daughter named Sabine. They courted for a brief time, but in the end it came to nothing, and they went their separate ways, each to make a life within the system to which they were confined.

He later married a Polish woman, Maria, who had a young son named Rafael. He took the child for his own and formally adopted the little boy.

Then he and Maria had a son. Tiede selected the name, John, after the man whom he most admired, the slain president of the country to which he had always longed to emigrate, the United States of America.

For some years they were happy—Detlef, Maria, Rafael, and John—as happy as possible in East Berlin with both of them eager to go to the West. Every day they could see The Wall, and they knew what was promised on one side and what they endured on the other.

But Maria was a Pole. As time passed, the Polish government became more liberal in giving permission to its citizens to visit and even to emigrate to the West. But East Germany remained hard and firm, unless, of course, a person was over sixty-five years of age with his useful work life behind him. East Germany had learned through the nearly 4 million who left between 1945 and 1961 that it could not trust its citizens to return if it permitted them to leave for a Western country, even for a visit, so even visits remained outlawed. But, as a Pole, Maria could go to West Berlin, and often she would take the children with her. As time went by, her visits became longer, often overnight, and then they became more frequent. Tiede, of course, remained where he was, on the other side of The Wall.

Eventually they divorced, but they continued to live together. They did not have money for separate apartments. And then he found a strange thing happening to him. Little by little, things in his apartment disappeared; even as he saw Maria less and less, his possessions became fewer and fewer. One day she disappeared behind The Wall, never to return—and she took both children with her. From that day, Tiede did not see his children again. He could not cross through The Wall into the other Germany where they now lived.

He went to work every day, but life was miserable. He served food and poured drinks, but all he thought of was the little boys he might never see again. Every night he would go home, walk past The Wall, see the guards, and know that he was in a prison—for life. He thought of the children all the time. The terrible realization came to him that he would never again put them to bed, play ball with them, touch them—or even see them. They would never say “Daddy” to him again.

He was terrified. How long would it be, he wondered, before they would no longer think of him at all? How long before they could no longer remember his face, or even his name? Rafael was only seven, and John was not yet four. How long before they forget they have a father? Children, he thought, do not remember forever. And what if Maria remarries; what if another man appears? Then they would have a reason to erase him. He had to leave—and soon.

He tried to get official permission. He applied, and he was refused. He applied again; again he was refused. A dozen applications, every one denied or ignored. The authorities did not care if the father never saw his children again. They kept refusing. The guards on The Wall and the machine guns in their hands were their enforcers.

It was not safe for Tiede to make even one application. He knew of the danger even to hint at leaving “the state.” There were hardships to be endured in the possible loss of work and privileges—even imprisonment—yet Tiede did not hesitate. He went to work, he went back to his apartment, and he kept applying to leave—more than a dozen requests, beseeching and begging, sometimes rebellious and strident, but always unsuccessful.

Plainspoken, uncomplicated as he appeared to many, he was a human being with a deep sense of his own dignity. He knew himself to be a man, not a donkey to be driven and guided. He was filled with fury at the injustice and wrong that he so clearly perceived but could do nothing to prevent. Finally his rage consumed the last reserve of restraint, and even of fear. For the dozenth time he wrote to the officials, and this time there welled up within him the outrage he could no longer control.

“I, Hans Detlef Alexander Tiede,” he wrote, “cannot and shall not understand that the majority of the people of the world is given the liberty of choosing to live where they want to. Why not me?” But he did not stop there. “My divorced wife can cross the border of the German Democratic Republic [East Germany] whenever she chooses. Where is there justice? Am I a second-class person? I again herewith request to immigrate to the Federal Republic of Germany [West Germany].” Heart in his mouth, he sent the letter to the government.

He was lucky, in a sense. He got no response. Not that anybody would have bothered to explain to him the historical reasons for distinguishing between Poles and Germans. His luck was that the authorities did not clap him into prison. He began to wonder whether he was too unimportant to arrest. Tiede continued his life, continued his work, and began to plan the words that he would use in his next appeal, which he already knew would be pointless. But what else was there to do?

Ingrid Ruske had gone her way with her daughter. An attractive woman—almost a beautiful one with her light blonde hair, pale eyes, and pert nose—she never lacked suitors. Her looks, combined with a certain softness, an air of helplessness, insured that she would not be left alone for long.

Eventually she met and fell in love with a man named Quint, a resident of West Berlin. Quint was a house painter whose work took him daily into East Berlin. They planned to marry. He managed to spend every evening with her. But he would have to return before midnight, when visiting West Berliners must go back through The Wall. For over a year this continued. They defied The Wall and politics and geography. Quint and Ingrid were full of dreams. Quint would get permission for her and little Sabine to leave East Berlin. They would marry. The three of them would live together in West Berlin.

And so Quint made his application to the East German government. The three waited for the answer. When it came, they were sorry he had applied.

Not only was permission refused, but in reprisal the East Germans took away Ingrid Ruske’s identity card—her Ausweiss—without which she became a nonperson in a state where a person without papers is a nobody. Now she could no longer identify herself. She could no longer travel. If she needed something from the government, if she wanted to appear before an official agency, if she was stopped in the street by a policeman, she had no papers to show. She would always have to report that she could not identify herself properly because the government had taken her papers from her. She was marked, constantly exposed, in a society where security depends on the camouflage of anonymity.

It became plain that she and Quint could never marry, that she could never leave, and that their engagement would have to end. The physical and emotional demands upon him, the loss to her of her ability to identify herself to officialdom, were impossible burdens. They parted. Two helpless people whose dreams were dashed against a wall by a state that could not have cared less.

Ingrid and Sabine were now alone again. Ingrid felt lost. But she was still young, in her early thirties, and an attractive woman. Perhaps her figure was just a little fuller than when Tiede had first met her, a half-dozen years before, but this only added to her appeal—making her appearance softer, a little more feminine than the young girl he had known. Her hair was still quite blonde and her smile was as wide—though it did not appear as often.

Up until now her looks were a mixed blessing. Men sought her, but she did not find happiness with any of them. Now she knew that she must begin again, to go on and make a future for herself and for her young daughter. They had to live. She had to work.

She met a man named Berndt. She took a position with him, managing a part of the Cafe Moscow in East Berlin. She worked, she abandoned her hope to go to the West, and she resigned herself to remaining on the other side of The Wall. After a time, when it was plain that she had regained the proper attitude, her Ausweiss was returned and she was again permitted an official identity.

But contentment continued to elude her. Berndt, who was a drinker, became a drunk. He was not a pleasant drunk, the kind who laughs and sings and finally falls asleep. Berndt turned nasty. Loud and abusive, he became a bully. He began to abuse Ingrid regularly, often at the cafe, sometimes in the presence of the patrons. She felt humiliated. She was desperate to leave, but she had no place to go.

One night in February 1977 Horst Fischer sat at a table in the Cafe Moscow observing a scene between Ingrid and Berndt. Fischer was a big man, a site superintendent who bossed a bunch of construction contractors putting up a slaughterhouse. He often came to the Cafe Moscow to arrange for the meals for his crew and to pay their bills. They were all West Germans, temporarily in the East on the project. An electrical engineer by profession, the Hamburg-born Fischer was trouble-shooting this one project in the East—this one time.

He was married, but not happily. His wife wanted a divorce, but he wanted to keep the marriage together. He was a stolid, steady type of man. His men came to the cafe with East Berlin girl friends—different ones every week—but he always arrived alone. Even while the divorce was proceeding, he sat by himself and did not drink. He was large and quiet, kind and gentle. Ingrid Ruske felt drawn to him. He seemed so different from all the others.

He was also drawn to her. He was older, and he thought her young and beautiful. He saw the way Berndt was treating her, and he felt protective. After a time he began to sit with her at the bar, and they would talk together while his men partied with the East Berlin girls. Berndt did not bother her when Fischer sat near.

It started slowly, this romance between Ingrid and Horst. She had been through this once before with a West German. It ended in the destruction of their dreams and the loss of her identity in reality. She did not want another adventure. Against her will, she fell in love.

He, too, was careful. He was not yet divorced, although he came to know that he would be. And so, slowly at first and then with more commitment, the lonely man from the West and the young woman from the East merged their needs and decided that they wanted to make a life with each other.

They knew that when the slaughterhouse was finished he would have to return and The Wall would stop her and divide them forever. They began to plan for her and Sabine’s escape. Even before they decided on the details of a plan, he began to smuggle her possessions out of East Berlin. Slowly, piece by piece, he carried her things out through The Wall. Clothing, items of jewelry, even her poodle dog were taken past the guards.

Horst Fischer even took an apartment in West Berlin, on Berliner Strasse. He signed a lease in both his and her names. Trip by trip, he filled the apartment with her things. Before long, most of her possessions were in the apartment. After they left East Berlin they would be married and live together as a family in the Berliner Strasse apartment. She, of course, hadn’t seen the apartment, but she signed the lease “Ingrid Fischer,” as his wife, and thus came to be a tenant in West Berlin, a city she could never legally enter.

Horst and Ingrid began to plan an escape. Some plans were considered and then rejected as too dangerous—particularly with the child. They finally agreed upon the way. It seemed simple, safe, almost foolproof. She was still frightened, but she entrusted herself and her daughter into the hands of the big engineer.

Horst brought Ingrid an identity card with the name of an actual West German woman. The card had been altered in only one respect: While in West Berlin, he had arranged for Ingrid’s photograph to be substituted on the otherwise authentic West Berlin card. Together with Sabine, they would board a train from East Germany to Poland. She would leave East Berlin with her daughter for a Polish “vacation.” He, as a West German, did not need to account to East Germany. The three of them—Horst, Ingrid, and Sabine—would ride together. When the train reached the East German-Polish border, Ingrid was to show the East German border guard her real East German identity card, which had been returned to her some months before. She would thus leave East Germany as an East German. Step one. Next, when the Polish guard on the other side of the barrier came to check her, she would show her false West German papers and be stamped into Poland as a citizen of the Federal Republic of Germany. As a West German she would be permitted to leave Poland for any city in the West. They would keep on traveling through Poland, to Warsaw—and on to freedom.

They planned, talked, rehearsed the details, over and over. They knew that discovery meant prison for Ingrid—and a state guardian for Sabine. Heavy risks, but the rewards were very great.

It was months before they were ready. Finally, in the spring of 1978, the three of them boarded a train for Warsaw. Ingrid had only one suitcase with her—more would not have seemed appropriate for her “vacation”—and most of her things were already waiting for her in West Berlin. As she boarded the train she took one last look at East Berlin. Whatever it was, it had been home. With a little shrug she took Sabine’s hand and boarded the train. Ingrid smiled into the face of Fischer as she sat across from him, Sabine by her side.

In the compartment the man, the woman, and the girl watched the countryside flash by. The train seemed to be racing for the frontier, yet Ingrid could not decide if it was going too slow or too fast. She was terrified. Only the solid bulk of Horst directly across from her kept her anchored. When the train neared the Polish border it slowed, and then it stopped. The three passengers sat stiff with anticipation. First would come the East German guards—they expected no trouble there. Ingrid would show her real papers. Then the Polish guards. If they were fooled by the false West German papers, if they did not check back to see if there was an entry stamp into East Germany, if they stamped her and Sabine into Poland as West Germans, they would be free—forever. They would go “home” to the Berliner Strasse apartment in West Berlin. They waited for the first step—for the East German guards to clear them out of East Germany and into Poland. They no longer dared to look directly at each other, but snatched glances from the reflections in the window of the train.

Ingrid heard the boots of the guards in the corridor outside the other compartments. Oh, she thought, why did I do this? I’ll never get away with it. They’ll know. When I show them the false papers, I’ll give myself away. They’ll see it in my face. I’ll be too nervous. Why did I do this?

Ingrid gasped as the door slid back. What she saw meant the end of all of Horst’s plans and all of her hopes. She stared into the faces of both the German and the Polish border guards.

So it was not to be. The guards entered the compartment together and checked the papers of the three petrified travelers standing side by side. Ingrid, of course, could produce only one set of papers, and she could show only her own East German Ausweiss, for the German guard would look for an entry stamp into East Germany on her West German papers. So she entered Poland without any difficulty, but as an East German citizen, which is what she was and would have to remain. She could not go beyond Poland. The train drew away from the border and resumed its normal speed. For Ingrid, Horst, and Sabine a flight to freedom became a train ride to nowhere. They sat in stunned silence, wondering what to do next.

The train pulled into the station at Warsaw, and the three travelers alighted—with no place to go. Ingrid stood on the platform paralyzed with fear and disappointment. Would it always be like this, like mice in a maze scurrying this way and that for the passage to freedom but always channeled back to where they had begun?

Fischer picked up their luggage. He would not admit failure. He took Sabine by the hand. Ingrid followed. He found a hotel. He settled them into a room and then raced around Warsaw, purchasing all kinds of inks, stamps, and pencils. He bought his packages back to the hotel room. There he spread his materials over the floor and, while Ingrid and the girl sat on the bed, he tried to duplicate the Polish entry stamp on her false West German papers.

He sat on the floor, crosslegged, below the woman and the girl. Over and over he practiced duplicating the Polish entry visa. The pencils were lost in his large fist as he perfected his forgeries. Ingrid could not help but smile down at the back of the large figure hunched over his delicate task, muttering and sighing at each attempt—and each failure. An hour passed, and then another. Suddenly he jerked upright; the pens and pencils sprayed from his hand as he threw them against the wall with a curse. He had failed. He couldn’t get the entry stamp to look real enough to chance the border.

They got their things together to return to East Berlin. There was no place else for Ingrid to go. In their terror they destroyed Ingrid’s Western papers. It was too dangerous to carry them back.

Fischer brought her back to East Berlin. They were now exactly where they had started. She had been through all of this once before with a West Berliner. She had given up Quint. She now prepared to give up Fischer, too. She could not subject herself and her child to such a danger again.

But Fischer was resolute. He would get her and Sabine out. He hit upon another scheme. Again she would travel to Poland as an East German. This time he would rendezvous with her and bring her false papers in the name of a West German woman with a child. She would not have to carry the papers in. He would even purchase the tickets in West Berlin. The reservations would be made from West Berlin. Once in Poland, she would be given the papers and the tickets, and then they would sail to a West German port. She would bear no risk.

Ingrid refused. She had to be certain that she and Sabine would not be arrested. The only way to be certain was to have someone else try it first. But who? Then Ingrid Ruske thought of Detlef Tiede—and their lives began to come together again, after all these years.

She had heard that Tiede’s wife had left with the children and that he was desperate to go to them. She guessed, and she was right in her assumption, that he would willingly test the way. When approached, he eagerly agreed. The three of them—Fischer, Ruske, and Tiede—met, but only once. It was too dangerous to be seen together often. The plan was agreed upon: Fischer would bring in the false documents for Tiede; Tiede would fly to a Polish port, either Gdansk or Sopot, as an East German. He would rendezvous with Fischer, collect the papers, and board the ship as a West German.

They planned, prepared, and as time passed the plans changed. Then there were delays. Fischer had trouble getting the papers. Back and forth he went between East and West Berlin, seeking real West German identity cards from friends in the West, and substituting pictures and personal histories to match Detlef, Ingrid, and Sabine.

Finally it was agreed that they had planned well enough. Fischer, full of confidence in his scheme, persuaded Ingrid that they could all go together safely in one trip. They would not fail. Ingrid bowed to his strength. The final arrangements were made. In West Berlin, Fischer made a reservation for four on a West German ship sailing from Poland on August 28, 1978.

Tiede and Ingrid made their plane reservations from Schoenefeld Airport in East Berlin to Gdansk, Poland. They bought round-trip tickets. One-way passages would excite questions. Why does an East German buy a one-way ticket to any place? They waited for the day of the flight, and they also waited for the false papers Fischer was carrying from West Berlin.

When he came, they were crushed. Fischer still did not have all the documents. He was missing an exit visa for Tiede and another identity card for Ingrid. But Fischer was confident. He would get everything. This time it would work. Tiede flew to Poland to get a place for them to stay. Ingrid and the child flew a few days later, on August 25. They would rendezvous with Fischer on August 27. Fischer would come by train with the rest of the documents. Then the next day, August 28, they would sail together to West Germany, and to freedom.

And everything did go well. Ingrid left on schedule with Sabine. She found Detlef. He had located a place to stay. The ship, they discovered, would arrive exactly on time. All was in readiness. They were feverish with excitement—especially Tiede. Tomorrow Fischer would come and, in just a day or two after that, he, Detlef Tiede, would see his children.

The next morning Fischer called them from the train station as he was leaving. He made them know, without using the words, that he had the rest of the papers and was on his way! The three “tourists” in Gdansk counted the hours until the train arrived. They were at the station at Sopot to meet him, long before the train. The train came in on time. After a brief delay, the passengers began to leave the compartments. Ingrid and Detlef stood on the platform waiting as the arriving passengers streamed to the exits. They stared into each face. No Horst. The last passenger left, but still no Horst. They ran to the empty train and went from car to car. No Horst Fischer. They knew stark panic. But perhaps it was the wrong train. They stood in the train station and met every train that came from East Germany to Sopot on that day, but Fischer was on none of them.

They found a telephone and placed calls to West Berlin. They tried to reach Fischer, but they could not find him. They were told that he had not appeared at work. He had vanished. The day passed. They waited. He did not come. They began to realize that he would never come.

They went down to the dock. There was the ship. But their papers were not complete. They could not board. They did not even have the tickets. They stood and saw the last of the passengers board, the gangplank pulled up by the crew, and the ship made secure for departure. The three miserable people watched the passengers wave farewell as the lines were untied and the great engines began to turn and drive the ship away. Hand in hand they stood on the pier, a man, a woman, and a little girl, left behind in the wake and the churning refuse as their dream ship sailed away without them.

Finally they turned and headed back into town. In their hearts they knew what must have happened: Horst Fischer had been arrested by the East German secret police on his way to meet them in Poland.

To this day no one knows how he was caught. He had help in West Berlin from a number of people. From a man named Wolfgang he obtained an identity card for Tiede; from a woman named Barbara, a real West Berlin identity card for Ingrid. Undoubtedly he spoke to others. Perhaps he had been overheard, or a careless remark was passed by another. He may even have been sold to the Communists, who pay bounties for such information. Whatever the reason, the East German police were waiting for him when his train entered East Germany. They dragged him off the train, with Tiede’s and Ingrid’s papers in his pocket. The excuse they gave, at least at first, was that he was smuggling heroin.

Detlef and Ingrid did not know the details of these things then, as they stumbled back into town with no actual word of Horst’s arrest. But after the ship sailed and when they could not reach Horst, they knew.

Into Ingrid’s mind flooded the memories of Warsaw—of Horst, Sabine, and herself stranded in the Polish capital when the first plan failed. She remembered the hotel room, Horst’s attempts to duplicate the Polish stamps, with his paraphernalia spread all over the floor. Now she was stranded again, but this time there was no way to return. And he? God alone knew what they would do with him.

Horst was carrying an identity card in the name of a West Berlin woman, but with Ingrid’s photograph on it. Horst also was carrying the visa Tiede needed to complete his exit papers. Even if the poor man did not confess to save himself, the mute evidence in his pockets was enough to send all of them to prison. The Polish police would sweep them up on the first request from East Germany.

Ingrid and Detlef knew they were in desperate danger. They knew they could not stay in Poland. They had no work there. They were running out of money. In fact, they had little more than their return trip tickets on Polish LOT Flight 165 leaving Gdansk at 10:00 a.m. on August 30.

But they could not fly back to East Berlin. There they assuredly faced arrest. As Detlef said to Ingrid, if we fly back we will not need money for a cab; the KGB will be waiting for us. If they stayed they would be arrested, and if they flew back they would be arrested upon landing. As for twelve-year-old Sabine, who could tell what would happen to her? It was then, on August 29, that the plan was born to take LOT Flight 165. Tiede told her that their only chance was to divert the plane from East Berlin to West Berlin.

They knew it was illegal, but, Tiede asked, was it “legal” for them to be confined in East Germany? Was it “legal” for them to be imprisoned now, and the child to be taken by the state, because they tried to flee? What were they supposed to do, march quietly off to prison—without a struggle? Well, if it had to be jail for them some place, they decided, then let it be jail in West not East Berlin. In one place, confinement would end, sometime. In the other they would never be free—not even after their release from prison.

They needed something to frighten the crew into changing destination, but they had no money for a gun.

As they wandered aimlessly through the streets of the Polish city, the child paused by the window of a toy store. Ingrid and Detlef continued to walk, but Sabine continued to stare. Suddenly she broke away and ran after them, grabbing her mother’s arm to make her stop. Flushed with excitement, Sabine told them that she had just seen a gun in the toy store window. It looks real, she told her mother, and she pulled them back with her until the three of them stood before the display.

It might work, Tiede thought. He went inside and examined it. He lifted it in his hand. It was not a real pistol, of course. It was not capable of hurting anyone. It was a starter’s gun, which cannot fire ammunition. It shoots blanks and makes a noise. The store did not even carry the blank cartridges necessary to make the noise. At least it looked like a gun.

But they didn’t have enough money even for this toy gun. It’s hopeless, Ingrid told him.

Tiede would not be put off. They would get the money by selling the few extra pieces of clothing they brought with them for their “vacation.”

So they went into a flea market, going from booth to booth, selling odds and ends of clothing. Even Sabine’s things were auctioned off.

Finally they scraped together enough. They hurried back to the store and made the purchase.

They had their “weapon”; but now they had the problem of getting it on board the aircraft, past the searches that are made at the boarding ramps in Eastern as well as Western countries.

They thought of a way. They gave the toy gun to Sabine. Perhaps the guards would not search a child.

They went to the airport. There were sixty-two passengers that day for LOT Flight 165, but only three were strip-searched. Tiede, Ingrid, and Sabine were taken aside and undressed. A special team of guards appeared for this search. The time it took to assemble the officials and to search Tiede and the Ruskes caused a delay in the plane’s departure. Now they had no doubt. Fischer was under arrest and they were under surveillance.

And of course the police found the gun. The Polish customs official—a woman searching Sabine Ruske—found the pistol. As the guard stood holding the pistol in her hand, Ingrid prepared herself for the arrest. The final blow was about to fall. All these attempts, all these failures. What a fool she had been to keep on trying. Well, now it was all over.

But the first time chance was with her. As the guard hefted the gun in her hand, Ingrid could see that the uniformed officer was smiling at Sabine. The woman laughed and handed the gun back to the child. She saw that it was not a real pistol. She believed it to be a child’s toy. As she returned it to Sabine she playfully admonished the child, “Here is your toy—just don’t shoot anyone with it.” Sabine promised that she wouldn’t. She thought it was funny. Ingrid hurriedly took the giggling child away and through the gate.

They went on board. The three of them sat near the front of the plane. The flight from Gdansk to Schoenefeld was a long hour for Ingrid Ruske. From the moment of takeoff she wondered if Tiede would really try to divert an airplane with a toy pistol. She kept glancing over at him—hoping to see some indecision in his face—but he looked calm and resolute. She was distraught. How did it come to this? she wondered. She couldn’t believe she was sitting on an aircraft that she was about to hijack. Hijack! She began to feel sick. In the name of heaven, what was she, Ingrid Ruske, a Berlin waitress, doing hijacking an airplane?

She looked around her. Could the other passengers read her mind? Up and down the aisle came the crew. There seemed to be a lot of them. Mostly men. She noticed that there was only one stewardess. All the rest were male stewards. Suddenly she knew. Of course! The stewards were all security people just waiting for the first move to seize the plane. She whispered to Detlef. Look at the stewards, she told him; look, there are too many. They are state security men.

Tiede swung his head around the cabin, counting. He grunted. There did seem to be an unusual number of male stewards. And they all looked very fit. If he went up against them with a toy gun he wouldn’t last three seconds. Ingrid begged him to give it up.

Tiede unfastened his belt and ambled up to the galley in the front of the plane. For several moments he stood silently, watching the stewards in the galley. Then, with an involuntary nod, he strode back to his seat. Ingrid saw that he was grinning. Those men, he told her, are real stewards, not security men. He could tell by the way they poured the drinks and prepared the food. They were the real thing. He chuckled. But she was not amused.

Look, she said, this gun is nothing but a toy. We bought it in a toy store. If you try to take the plane with it the pilot will check with the tower at Gdansk. How did a gun get on board? he will ask, and then the tower will check with the guards and tell him that it is only a toy and we will all be arrested. She begged him to abandon the plan. She was certain they would be caught. Just then the announcement came: We are preparing for the landing at Schoenefeld Airport in East Berlin. Please fasten your seat belts.

Tiede took her by the arm and gripped hard. Don’t be a fool, he told her: they won’t know it’s a toy—and, anyway, if we land with this plane at Schoenefeld, police will be there waiting for us and they will take us straight to prison. Give me the gun, he ordered the petrified woman.

What’s the use, she thought. She no longer could think or decide, only do what he asked. She reached over into Sabine’s coat. Where was it? She couldn’t seem to find it. Tiede was looking at her, pleading. There were only minutes left. She struggled with the child’s coat—there it is. She had it. She passed it to him and watched while he strode to the front. The curtain of the crew’s galley had been drawn closed in preparation for landing. Tiede walked right through it—gun in hand.

Within half an hour the plane was on the ground in Berlin, not at Schoenefeld in East Berlin but at Tempelhof in West Berlin. None of the passengers knew it until they were on the ground.

After the plane landed, Tiede marched out from the front galley and up the passenger aisle. We’re free, he shouted. Thank God we’re free. If you want to get off the plane and stay, you can, he shouted again.

At first the passengers looked at each other in bewilderment as the civilian-dressed East German emerged from the Polish cockpit dancing and screaming that they were all free. But, within minutes, they were choosing. Husbands and wives began to talk it over. Should they or shouldn’t they? They might never get another chance. Eight took the opportunity Tiede had given them.

Eight passengers, all East Germans, immediately defected to the West. These eight joined Detlef, Ingrid, and Sabine, leaving homes, jobs, families—everything.

And so, eleven human beings flew against the winds of history and managed to disinherit themselves from the legacy of a past, bequeathed out of old wrongs committed before any of them were born. Eight of the eleven walked off the plane into freedom. The other three found themselves in occupied territory, thrust back into time, into the history of a divided country and an occupied city, hailed before an American “occupation court” whose jurisdiction was based on “the victory in World War II.”
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THE WALL OF TEARS

August 13, 1961

The Communists have erected a wall through Berlin. They guard it with soldiers as one guards prison walls so that the inmates cannot escape. . . . Day after day men, women, and even children who try to flee the Communist prison and reach their relatives in the free part of the City are shot down at the wall. . . .

Concrete and barbed wire are the only arguments with which the Communist regime has countered the attraction of the free world. It is in its apparent triumph that brutal force reveals its inner weakness in the face of man’s struggle toward freedom. What is unnatural will not endure. That is why one day the wall in Berlin will come down.

Konrad Adenauer

On Sunday morning, August 13, 1961, the residents of Berlin awoke to find that they lived in a divided city. A border had come into existence. To cross without permission was to risk death from machine guns mounted on firing platforms, manned by guards trained to kill.

The Wall was erected in 1961, but its foundations had been laid much earlier. Was it in 1923, when the Nazis first tried to take the Bavarian government by storm in the streets, or 1933, when the reins of government were handed over to those same street-corner hooligans? Certainly by September 1, 1939, when Hitler fulfilled his promise of finding elbow room in the East by sticking his elbow into the neck of Poland, the outline of The Wall had begun to form in the impenetrable mists of the future.

As early as 1926 Mein Kampf had proclaimed the route of destiny.

We take up where we broke off six hundred years ago. We stop the endless German movement toward the south and west of Europe, and turn our gaze toward the lands of the East. . . . When we speak of new territory in Europe today we must think principally of Russia and her border vassal states. Destiny itself seems to wish to point out the way to us here. . . . This colossal empire in the east is ripe for dissolution, and the end of the Jewish domination in Russia will also be the end of Russia as a state.

Thirteen years later Hitler’s troops sang “Marching Through Poland.” And march they did. Right on through Poland and into Russia. Into the Ukraine. Right up to Stalingrad, where the flower of their army was left dead or captured. The army that froze and died before the Russian city made inevitable the wall that was later to divide Berlin from Berlin and Germans from Germans.

By April 30, 1945, much of Berlin was nothing but flame and rubble. The Russians penetrated within a city block of Hitler’s underground bunker. On May 1, 1945, they took command of the entire city.

Since then, the city of Berlin has never been a part of any Germany-East or West. It may even be that it never will be.

It is popular fiction that the Russians won the race for Berlin. The Russians selected the choicest portions to be theirs, so the story goes, because General Eisenhower held back his armor, allowing them to enter first. Nothing could be further from the truth. It was divided by a carefully drawn agreement negotiated nearly eight months before.

In February 1944, while Nazi Germany was far from defeat—months even before the Allied invasion of France—the Russians looked ahead to final victory and proposed the division of Germany among the three Allies—Great Britain, the United States, and Russia. By September 12, 1944, the deal was struck. A protocol signed in London divided all of Germany into three “zones” of occupation. Berlin, located entirely in the Russian zone, was treated as a special situation. It would be occupied and administered jointly by the Russians, British, and Americans. Berlin was divided into three “sectors,” even as all of Germany was divided into three zones. And to avoid any confusion as to who was to get what, the precise boundary lines of each of the zones and sectors were drawn on a map and attached to the completed agreement of September 12, 1944.

One slight change was made five months later, at the Yalta Conference: A fourth zone for Germany and sector for Berlin, created and awarded to the French, was achieved by redividing those of the Americans and the British. The Russian lines remained the same. In all other respects, the occupation of Germany and Berlin conformed precisely to the lines of the 1944 agreements, to be jointly administered by the four powers.

On August 1, 1945, the Allies—all of them—declared at the Potsdam Conference that the final objective of the occupation was the reunification of Germany. It is plain that the Russians did not mean a word of it. There is certainly little reason why they should ever have desired German reunification. For them such a war had never been known before. They may have lost as many as 25 million people. These were their losses in the war that they had won. Had they lost, they would have been extinguished.

Their enemy had made no secret of this plan: The Eastern people—the Poles and the Russians—were to be conquered, their cities occupied, their open spaces colonized, their inhabitants liquidated or reduced to perpetual slavery, from generation to generation, a human stockpile of servants for Germany—forever.

Not even the German disaster at Stalingrad could alter the plan. On October 4, 1943, seven months after Stalingrad, Heinrich Himmler addressed his SS leaders:

In twenty to thirty years we must really be able to present the whole of Europe with its leading class. If the SS, together with the farmers, then run the colony in the East on a grand scale without any restraint, without any question about tradition but with nerve and revolutionary impetus, we shall in twenty years push the frontiers of our Folk Community five hundred kilometers eastward.

But it was upon their own grandchildren and the posterity of the German people that these “leaders” were pronouncing sentence, not upon the Slavs. For it was these very Slavs who, after terrible losses, took Berlin in May 1945; and it was they who governed the Eastern zone of Germany and the Russian Sector of Berlin just three years later, when their former allies were attempting to reunify Germany and restore sovereignty to the German people.

In 1948, the Russians insisted that Germany should not be reunified. They had learned that what Hitler had written in 1926 he had meant—every word; that the talks to the troops of 1943 were not mere rhetoric. These fiendish concepts and lunatic theories had been faithfully implemented in the streets of the Russian cities by Germans in uniform, and while it is true that these Germans wore the black uniforms of the SS, it is also true that the men of rank who wore the field gray of the Wehrmacht were not ignorant of the deeds behind their lines.

The Russians will never forgive, nor are they likely to forget. They mean to be certain that never again will Germany or Germans be able to inflict such wounds upon the people or the soil of Russia.

As their allies began to turn control of Germany back to the Germans, the Russians pulled away. Undoubtedly they were motivated by more than mere vengeance or fear. They did not, for example, subjugate Poland twice—first in concert with Hitler and then alone—out of either vengeance or fear. Territorial expansion was their aim, as the present map of Eastern Europe will attest.

With all that, for Russia, Germany is a special case. The prospect of a reunified Germany, even an all-Communist Germany, is not to be borne. Russia would prefer to see Germany permanently divided between East and West than reassembled under any circumstances.

It is upon these foundations—now only distant echoes in the corridors of time—that the Berlin Wall ultimately came into existence, and a nation and a people were partitioned, perhaps forever.

In 1948, the Allies in the Western zones of Germany began to give self-government to the Germans. A constitution was established. The Federal Republic of Germany—West Germany—was in formation by April 1949. In 1952, the Bonn Convention was signed. Effective in 1955, it terminated the military occupation of Germany by Britain, America, and France and gave full sovereignty over these areas to the Federal Republic of Germany. The American-British-French occupation of Germany ended on May 5, 1955—everywhere except Berlin.

When the Russians pulled out of the joint rule of the four zones of Germany in 1948, they set the framework for the creation of the German Democratic Republic—East Germany. As the Western Allies gave autonomy to the Federal Republic of Germany (FRG), the Russians purportedly gave autonomy to the German Democratic Republic (GDR). But of course their troops remained—not to protect, but to rule. As a consequence, today there are two Germanys, even at the United Nations—everywhere, that is, except in the hearts of the German people.

As provided in the protocols of 1944, a four-power “Allied Komman-datura” was established to govern the entire “Greater Berlin” area. Subject only to the Allied Kommandatura, each American, British, French, and Russian military sector commandant was in total control of his particular sector, including the power to pass sector laws. As the two Germanys were in creation, the Russians attempted to treat the four-power administration of Berlin as terminated. They walked out of the joint Allied governing body for the four sectors of Berlin, and demanded that their former Allies leave the city.

But here the parallel of national and city occupations ended. The FRG (West Germany) and the GDR (East Germany) could develop separately and apart. But the city of Berlin, 110 miles deep within the Russian zone of Germany, was completely surrounded by what was about to emerge as East Germany. The western sectors could not geographically link up with the FRG—and the Allies were determined that they should not be swallowed by the GDR.

The three Allies refused to abandon to East German domination the more than 2 million souls who lived in their sectors. If they could not make a fragment of a city part of the emerging West Germany, 110 miles away, at least they could prevent a Communist takeover of the entire city. So the Allies simply refused to recognize the dissolution of the Allied Kommandatura and, relying on the 1944 and 1945 agreements, continued to maintain their rights to “occupy” their respective sectors in Berlin, as victorious conquerors of World War II.

When the Russians realized what was afoot, they were furious. In 1948 they closed all road and rail access to the city, hoping to starve out the Allies and force the West Berliners to join East Germany. For eleven months the city was blockaded. West Berlin lived by air. Thousands of tons of supplies, food, clothing, and fuel were flown into its airports—principally Tempelhof—in what came to be known as the “Berlin Airlift.” It ended on May 14, 1949. The West Berliners and their American-British-French “occupiers” had hung on. Berlin would be de facto divided. West Berlin would survive under the protection of the three Allies who continued to govern their sectors as conquered territory under the agreements of 1944 and 1945. For the Americans, British, and French, the Allied Kommandatura has never been disbanded. It meets even to this day in Berlin, although only three of the sector commanders have been in attendance for more than thirty-five years—since July 1, 1948. In Berlin the clock has been stopped. West Berlin is a Brigadoon—the only place where the war never quite ended. The city island remains the last outpost of World War II.

Thus, when the Federal Republic of West Germany took full charge over its own affairs in 1955, the “occupation” of Berlin continued. But it was a benevolent occupation, maintained to preserve freedom in West Berlin.

The differences between East and West, in Berlin and throughout Germany, were obvious enough to the world. From 1945 until 1961, 4 million fled East Germany—nearly one-fifth of its entire population. As John F. Kennedy later put it, “The Germans voted with their feet.” And those feet packed the foundations of the Berlin Wall into place, for it was through Berlin that East Germans were coming. The barbed-wire frontiers of East Germany and the satellite states of Hungary, Poland, and Czechoslovakia could be easily sidestepped by a trip to Berlin—East Berlin. Once there, an East German, a Pole, a Hungarian, or even a Russian could freely go to West Berlin and on to the West—never to return again. The Iron Curtain had a hole in it, a bleeding ulcer within East Germany through which the populations of Eastern Europe were hemorrhaging, wave after wave, a tide of people yearning to be free.

In 1953, East German workers rebelled against their Russian masters. On June 17, 1953, they bombarded Russian tanks with bricks and stones. In that year the number of East German refugees swelled to 331,390.

The gap in the curtain would have to be closed before East Germany bled dry. In 1958, the Russians struck. Berlin, they said, must become a “free city”—meaning the World War II occupation must end—within six months. President Eisenhower had Secretary of State Dulles remind the Russians that the United States was in Berlin pursuant to the 1944 agreements, which had fixed the exact boundaries of control of all the four powers. The Americans, he said, would continue to occupy Berlin. So Berlin remained “occupied,” and those who sought to leave the East still had a place from which they might escape. For three more years the exodus continued. Then, on August 13, 1961, the Russians solved their problem: They closed the last slit in the Iron Curtain.

On Sunday morning, August 13, 1961, the border was sealed off—first by temporary barbed-wire barricades manned by armed Communist guards, Vopos; then, within days, concrete blocks were placed on top of each other. As the blocks were hurriedly built higher, the still wet mortar dribbled down the sides of the growing wall like tear streaks. And so it was that the Berliners came to call it “The Wall of Tears.”

The world was told, of course, that the border had been closed to keep out Western spies and saboteurs, but that was an obvious lie. West Berliners always remained free to enter East Berlin; it was East Berliners who could no longer leave.

Within weeks, daring escapes began. During the first three months, eight refugees were killed and sixty others were wounded by gunfire. Two hundred and one East Berlin policemen and soldiers leaped over The Wall to freedom.

The human drama and heartache were everywhere, according to contemporary accounts, such as that of a young boy, crawling across a roof near The Wall—crawling toward freedom, but finding death.

Suddenly a young man shouted “help”. . . Communist guards, the Vopos, were crawling after him. They had guns in their hands. They swarmed all over the roof. The young man stopped crawling. He got up and ran perilously along the roof top, darting backwards and forwards. Other Vopos perched on the gables of nearby houses and chattered at him with their tommy guns every time the young man got into their field of fire. He ran up the roof like a man in a panic. A Vopo chased up after him and grappled with him on the peak. They were locked together, struggling, then they rolled down to the gutter. The Vopo battered the young man’s head with a tile torn from the roof. He fell and the Vopo fell after him. Only the iron barrier the Vopos had set up to stop people escaping stopped them from falling. The young man got up and ran again, zigzagging like a rat in a trap. In the street below a crowd of West Berliners shouted “murderers!” “Schweine hunde!” West Berlin police were there too. They turned searchlights on the young man to help him. They fired on the Vopos to cover him. One of the Vopos was hit in the thigh and rolled down the roof. The iron barrier stopped him from falling, too.

Firemen brought up their safety net and their captain shouted to the young man to jump. He still kept running. The firemen ran this way and that to keep abreast of him. The Vopos kept firing. Finally the young man jumped, but the firemen were light yards away from where he jumped. . . .

He was Bernd Lunser. He was twenty years old, and was the fourth escapee of the wall to die in Bernauer Strasse.

Escape became harder, but attempts continued to be made.

Even daring piracy has been employed by desperate East Berliners as a means to win their freedom. In June, 1962, an ingenious group of thirteen escapees hijacked an East Berlin excursion boat, the Friedrich Wolf, with a cunning that would have done credit to Henry Morgan. The thirteen, plus one couple’s five-month-old baby boy, escaped to West Berlin by a fearless stratagem…. As a preliminary to the escape, the men in the group went aboard the vessel first. Innocently, they suggested a few friendly drinks to the captain and the engineer. Seizing the pair off guard, they tied up the skipper and his assistant. Quickly, the five women and the baby were slipped on board. The motors started. In the early morning dawn, the Friedrich Wolf set sail for freedom.

The unscheduled voyage quickly attracted the attention of swarms of Communist police. Immediately, the Vopos opened fire. More than two hundred machine gun slugs ripped into the superstructure of the Friedrich Wolf. By taking cover the escapees miraculously escaped the shower of bullets unhurt. Ramming the Friedrich Wolf on the side of West Berlin’s Landwehr Canal, they reached free soil. Still, the peril was not ended. Illegally and callously, the Communist guards continued to fire on the ship and its passengers. Then West Berlin police came to the rescue. Setting up a covering fire against the Vopos, they enabled the escapees to roll, one by one, from ship to shore. The gunfire continued but no one was hit. The captain and engineer were permitted to take the bullet-riddled Friedrich Wolf back across the Spree to East Berlin.

The “pirates” were welcomed to safety and to Free West Berlin. But in 1962 piracy on water was one thing. By 1978, piracy in the air was quite another.
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THE DEFENDANTS

August 30-December 6, 1978

WEST BERLIN—The hijacking of a Polish airliner to West Berlin Wednesday with 63 passengers and eight crew members aboard ended peacefully when the armed air pirate, an East German, surrendered to American authorities at Tempelhof, the United States military airfield here.

The hijacker, who was disarmed by U.S. Air Force personnel, was taken into American custody along with a woman and a child in his company. None of them was immediately identified.

U.S. officials said seven other passengers, all East Germans, asked for asylum and were turned over to West Berlin refugee authorities. The plane, a Soviet-built Tupolev-134, was released by the Americans less than six hours after it had touched down at Tempelhof at 10:04 a.m. local time and flew to Schoenefeld, its original destination in East Germany.

But the incident, despite its peaceful outcome, involved American authorities in an acute diplomatic conflict with the Poles and the East Germans, who demanded the extradition of the hijacker and the return to the East of all passengers. The American commander in Berlin, Maj. Gen. Calvin Benedict, explained the U.S. stand in talks with Polish diplomats.

The hijacking came less than six weeks after leaders of the world’s major non-Communist countries, including President Carter, resolved at the Bonn summit in July to take steps against international air piracy and to suspend air traffic to and from countries that fail to hand over hijackers and hijacked airplanes quickly. That agreement contained no clause dealing with hijackers fleeting from authoritarian countries to seek a haven in the West.

The hijacker and his family, who evidently belong in the latter category, boarded the Polish LOT airplane at Gdansk, Poland, on a scheduled flight to Schoenefeld, just outside Berlin.

Shortly before the scheduled landing, the man entered the cockpit and forced the pilot to divert the plane to Tempelhof, in the American sector of Berlin, only about 25 miles away. The hijacker threatened the crew with his pistol, but officials said no shots were actually fired and no one was harmed.

The New York Times, August 31, 1978; supplementary material from The New York Times News Service and the Associated Press

As the American colonels smilingly welcomed the three fugitives to “free West Berlin,” diplomatic clouds gathered over their heads. Major General Calvin P. Benedict, commandant of the American Sector of Berlin, raced for the airport. So did Andre M. Surena of the Department of State. Lieutenant Colonel Arthur F. Goeller, Jr., commander of the Air Force Office of Special Investigations, was already there. His office was located at Templehof.

The Polish plane was held. American intelligence officers, directed by Goeller, swarmed over the aircraft, taking statements from the Polish crew, interrogating the passengers. Who saw what? No passenger saw anything or knew about a diversion until the plane landed.

In a few hours, it was sorted out. The plane was permitted to leave. Eight defecting passengers were turned loose. Hans Detlef Alexander Tiede, Ingrid and Sabine Ruske were arrested by the Americans.

Tiede was questioned. He readily admitted diverting the plane, but concealed the reason: the arrest of Horst Fischer. To keep Fischer’s name out of it, Tiede said nothing about Ingrid. When questioned, she denied any participation in the plan to divert the plane.

If they revealed the story, and Ingrid’s role, they would betray Fischer’s part in the plan to escape. That would give added evidence to the East Germans. Even before the plane landed, they had agreed to say nothing—not to protect themselves, for that, they thought, would obviously be futile, but only to protect Fischer, who had been caught trying to help them.

This pact of silence held unforeseen consequences for the American authorities. No members of the Polish crew or any passenger had seen the woman do anything. Tiede did not implicate his companion, and she would not confess. The Americans, therefore, had no evidence against her or her daughter. All they knew was that the “hijacker” traveled in the company of the woman and the child.

Nonetheless, all three were taken into custody and held without bail, without charge, and without counsel. They were not even permitted to telephone or write—except messages cleared by military guards. They were held in one suite together, confined within the officers’ club at Tempelhof, and an armed soldier was posted outside their door. Their confinement dragged on for sixty-four days.

The American military officials and diplomats were well intentioned. They did not treat their prisoners harshly. But Washington had not yet decided what to do with these people. So the three fugitives were held incommunicado, in “limbo” as it was later described, to prevent the asking of sticky questions by lawyers.

The trouble was that the State Department couldn’t decide. On the one hand, the West Germans did not want the case. They wanted the Americans to take it. On the other hand, the prevailing feeling in the State Department was to refuse. The United States had no court, no courtroom, no judge. It certainly was not eager to convene a court for this case. The debate went on. Ambassadors met. Notes were sent. Meanwhile, the self-proclaimed hijacker, the woman, against whom there was no evidence, and the child, who was not even under suspicion, remained in confinement. No charge. No lawyer. No bail.

To be on the safe side, the Americans immediately chose a prosecutor. Andre Surena, the legal adviser to the United States Mission in Berlin, was appointed United States attorney for Berlin.

Among the last acts of the United States High Commission for Germany had been the creation in 1955 of the United States Court for Berlin by High Commissioner Law No. 46. The high commissioner was then promptly replaced by the United States ambassador to the Federal Republic of Germany—although the same man merely put on another hat—and for twenty-five years the United States Court for Berlin existed only on paper. There had never been a United States judge for Berlin. The German authorities routinely handled all criminal cases in German courts that sit throughout the city.

Two days after the plane landed, Surena became United States attorney of a jurisdiction that had three prisoners but no court, and, while the prisoners were held incommunicado, the debate continued as to who would prosecute. But one thing was clear: Unlike the acts of piracy on water, as in the case of the Friedrich Wolf in 1962, by 1978 the Hague and Tokyo conventions required that those who committed piracy in the air must be prosecuted or extradited. West Germany and the United States were signatories. Moreover, they had demanded these treaties, which were aimed primarily at protecting their civil aviation against terrorists seeking sanctuary in Communist or Third World countries. The diplomats believed that the safety of aviation depended on these international accords; and if the “free world” expected adversaries to prosecute hijackers, would it not have to prosecute a hijacker who escaped from behind the Iron Curtain?

There would have to be a prosecution. But by whom? Everyone wanted it, but no one wanted to be the one to prosecute. In the meantime, the three were held incommunicado.

The American diplomats in Berlin and Washington were uneasy about their own conduct, of course. But what else could they do? If they gave Detlef Tiede and Ingrid Ruske lawyers, those lawyers would ask awkward questions—to which there were no answers, yet. So the three fugitives were kept on ice, day after day, week after week, until the time was measured in months, while the State Department men—and the soldiers—uneasily did their duty and kept their peace.

But there was one among them who was troubled. Colonel Goeller, the chief investigator and head jailer, was an able and experienced investigator, a kind of super policeman, commanding a detail of intelligence officers. He knew that there was no evidence against the woman. He also knew that the only way to get that evidence was to coax it out of her.

And so, every week—several times a week—he came to see Ingrid Ruske in her confinement, with his interpreter, Hans Koester, for Goeller spoke no German. Colonel Goeller brought her gifts. Sabine, too, came under his kindness. He played games—table tennis was a favorite—took walks, had lighthearted chats with them. Week after week this continued. Sometimes Goeller brought his camera and took snapshots of the woman and her child. He questioned her. Gently. Subtly. He spoke with the man. Even with the child. Everything was casual, informal, and friendly. But still Ingrid made no statement.

Under close arrest for two months, unable to telephone or to write without being censored, Ingrid Ruske said nothing incriminating. She came to like Colonel Goeller, and to trust him. But her silence was not for her own protection. It was for Fischer. She must not breathe one word to anyone of what had happened or why. She would be dealt with, she expected, but she must never mention him. So she kept her peace throughout the walks, the talks, the games—and the gifts.

At that time Horst Fischer was only a few miles away, in a cell in East Berlin. Fate had taken a strange twist for him. He and Ingrid had passed through a revolving door. Push, she was out. Free. Push, he was in, on the wrong side of The Wall. In prison.

He had boarded the train in West Berlin. Just before leaving, he had telephoned Ingrid. “I’m on my way!” Nothing more. He did not want to say too much. She understood.

The train left the Zoo Station on its way to the East, and then through East Germany. When it reached the Polish border, Fischer became very frightened. The East German guards fanned out among the carriages of the train. They reached his compartment. Two of them stood solemnly before him and carefully checked his papers. Long looks. First at the papers, then at him, back to the papers. He tried to look calm, innocent, afraid there would be trouble. But they gave the papers back and walked out of his compartment.

Then came the Polish guards. Fischer was dripping with sweat, although he tried to tell himself there was no reason to be afraid. With a sigh of relief he saw that his panic was pointless. The Poles were perfunctory. A few seconds and they were gone.

Then, with a lurch, the train began to move. It was through the frontier. Fischer expelled a deep breath and heaved back into the seat. It was going to be all right. He was now in Poland. He remembered that this was where Ingrid and he had failed before. But not this time. The train picked up speed. He drew a handkerchief from his pocket and wiped at the film of sweat on his upper lip. The rest ought to be easy. He thought about taking a nap until the train reached Sopot. He felt very tired. Perhaps it was a reaction to the relaxation of the pressure. His head began to nod. Horst Fischer dozed off.

His compartment door was torn open. Fischer was half out of his seat when he saw the uniformed East German police. But, he thought, how could East German police be in Poland?

As his mouth formed the question, they leapt into the compartment, grabbed his arms, and hustled him out, along the narrow corridor toward the end of the carriage. Passengers craned their necks to look. Some of them. Most were too frightened to take notice and sat staring straight ahead.

There was no more need for his unasked question, Fischer realized. The police had gone straight for him. They did not hesitate.

The train lurched to a stop, and the East Germans pushed their prisoner down the train steps and into a waiting car.

As he was stuffed into the rear of the car, between two uniformed policemen, Fischer saw that they were fully prepared for him. The car waiting. A driver with the engine running. All planned. A setup. But who, who had told?

His mind was beginning to work again. Some of the numbness was leaving. The papers, the false papers in his pocket with Ingrid’s picture on them! Involuntarily his hand went toward his breast pocket. How could he explain them, he thought. But wait, he must think. He must be calm. Think! As the car sped back to East Berlin, Fischer began to reason it out.

They obviously knew something about him. There was nothing he could say, no story to invent. They would never believe him. But the real question was, did they know about her? It was her picture on the papers, but not her name! Even if someone had betrayed him to the East Germans, that person might not know the names of the people he was on his way to smuggle out. Or maybe the police had found out about Detlef, but not about Ingrid.

He sat back between his guards. They would find the papers, he knew. But he would say nothing. He would refuse to make any statement. Ingrid and little Sabine must have their chance to get back quietly to East Berlin—at the end of their little vacation—and resume their lives as though nothing had happened. He gave a mental nod to himself for emphasis. It seemed to help, a little.

In East Berlin the police put Fischer into a cell. Every day they summoned him for questioning. Often the interrogators were the same. Sometimes they were new faces. But to Fischer, they all looked alike. Hard, frozen-faced men. And the questions were always exactly the same. Day after day, every day, over and over again. But he would say nothing. He knew he was making it hard on himself—but Ingrid and Detlef must have their chance.

Horst Fischer, of course, had no newspapers or radio. He heard nothing of the diversion of Polish LOT Flight 165, or of the friends who were now well beyond the reach of his tormentors. He did not know that his silence was now unnecessary. A wasted sacrifice. And his jailers, of course, said nothing to enlighten him. They just kept asking their questions. The same ones, over and over.

Suddenly it was the end of September. The occupation authorities—that is, the U.S. State Department—reached a decision. The United States would prosecute the case. For the first time in nearly thirty years an occupation court would be convened in Berlin. Why? To save the Germans the embarrassment of having to prosecute two fugitives whom their constitution gave the right to defect—a highly unpopular prosecution in Germany, that is, in West Germany.

The Federal Republic of Germany agreed to pay all the costs of the trial. The United States would prosecute the case. The “occupied” status of Berlin—the legal basis for the continued American presence—would provide the jurisdiction for the United States to convene an “occupation court” in the American Sector of Berlin under Law No. 46.

At considerable expense, all of it borne by a very willing West Germany, a courtroom for the United States Court for Berlin was constructed in a former waiting lounge at Tempelhof Airport. When the State Department was ready, it would serve as the court in which the defendants would be arraigned, tried, and, very likely, sentenced.
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